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Federal M ne Safety and Heal th Revi ew Conm ssi on
O fice of Adm nistrative Law Judges

PONTI KI COAL CORPORATI ON, Contest of Order
CONTESTANT
Docket No. KENT 79-115-R
V.
Order No. 706444
SECRETARY OF LABOR, May 3, 1979
M NE SAFETY AND HEALTH
ADM NI STRATI ON ( MSHA) , No. 1 M ne
RESPONDENT
SECRETARY OF LABOR Cvil Penalty Proceeding
M NE SAFETY AND HEALTH
ADM NI STRATI ON ( MSHA) , Docket No. KENT 80-53
PETI TI ONER Assessment Contr ol
No. 15-08413- 03042V
V.
No. 1 M ne
PONTI KI COAL CORPORATI ON,
RESPONDENT
DEC!I SI ON
Appear ances: WIlliamH Howe, Esq., and Tinothy J. Persons,

Esq., Loomi s, Owen, Fellman & Howe, Washi ngton,
D.C., for Pontiki Coal Corporation

John H. O Donnell, Esq., Ofice of the Solicitor,
U S. Departnment of Labor, for Secretary of Labor

Bef or e: Admi ni strative Law Judge Steffey

Pursuant to witten order dated June 22, 1979, a hearing in
t he above-entitl ed( FOOTNOTE 1) consoli dated proceedi ng was held on
August 9, 1979, in Pikeville, Kentucky, under section 105(d) of
the Federal M ne Safety and Health Act of 1977.
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Counsel for Pontiki Coal Corporation filed on Decenber 11, 1979,
a posthearing brief and counsel for the Mne Safety and Health
Admi ni stration filed on January 7, 1980, a reply to Pontiki's
brief.

| ssues

Pontiki's brief argues that Order No. 706444 is invalid as
wel |l as underlying Citation No. 706762 on which O der No. 706444
is based. Pontiki also contends that the violation of 30 CFR
75.403 alleged in Oder No. 706444 did not occur or, in the
alternative, that if a violation of section 75.403 did occur, the
violation was not the result of any unwarrantable failure on the
part of Pontiki.

MSHA' s brief argues that a violation of section 75.403
occurred as alleged in Oder No. 706444, that the violation was
the result of an unwarrantable failure on the part of Ponti ki
and that underlying Citation No. 706762 was validly issued and
properly cited a violation of 30 CFR 75.313. Additionally,
MSHA's brief clainms that | amobligated to determne in ny
deci si on whether the violation of section 75.313 alleged in
underlying Ctation No. 706762 occurred even though Pontiki did
not raise that issue in its contest of Order No. 706444.

Finally, MSHA contends that a judge is obligated to consider a
conglonerate's total civil penalty record of previous violations
when he is evaluating an operator's history of previous
violations as one of the six criteria which nust be considered in
assessing penalties in civil penalty proceedings if violations of
the mandatory health and safety standards are found to have
occurred.

Fi ndi ngs of Fact

My decision on all issues in this consolidated proceedi ng
wi |l be based on the findings of fact set forth bel ow

1. Pontiki Coal Corporation is a subsidiary of Mapco, Inc.
(Exh. 1). In addition to Pontiki Coal Corporation, Mpco
controls four other coal conpanies, nanely, Wbster County Coa
Corporation, Martiki Coal Corporation, Topi ki Coal Corporation
and Mettiki Coal Corporation. Mapco's five subsidiaries operate
a total of nine underground and surface coal mines. Pontik
operates two underground coal m nes and one preparation plant
(Exh. 2). Only Pontiki's No. 1 Mne is involved in this
proceedi ng. That mine enploys 169 miners on two production
shifts and one mai ntenance shift to produce about 3,500 tons of
raw coal per day fromthe Pond Creek coal seam (Tr. 12). After
cleaning, the No. 1 Mne's production anmounts to about 3,000 tons
per day (Tr. 96). The m ning height ranges from 36 to 109 inches
(Tr. 12; 84). The No. 1 Mne is entered by one 400-foot shaft
and one slope (Tr. 12). Coal is produced from four working
sections, three of which use continuous m ning machi nes and one
of which utilizes conventional mning nethods (Tr. 45). The No.
1 Mne liberates approximately 450,000 cubic feet of methane over
a 24-hour period (Tr. 13).



2. An MSHA inspector entered the No. 1 Mne on May 3, 1979,
at about 4:30 p.m He was acconpani ed by an inspector trainee
and Pontiki's safety
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director, M. Danny P. Curry (Tr. 65; 81). Al three nen
traveled to the No. 5 Section which uses conventional mning

equi prent (Tr. 136). For a nonth prior to May 3, the inspector
had been engaged in nmaking a conplete inspection of the No. 1
Mne (Tr. 14; 41). He knew from previ ous experience that the
personnel in the No. 5 Section were having sonme difficulty in
controlling the roof and he wanted to check the roof conditions
in the No. 5 Section before finishing his inspection (Tr. 42; 45;
194).

3. The inspector, the trainee, and M. Curry traveled up
the No. 5 or track entry to the second crosscut outby the face
(Tr. 83; 137). At that point they observed a miner installing
roof bolts. M. Curry remained at the site of the roof bolter
whil e the inspector and the trai nee wal ked over to return entries
Nos. 6 and 7. \Wen they returned fromthose entries, they were
rejoined by M. Curry at the No. 5 entry and all three nen
thereafter continued their exam nation of the entries by wal king
t hrough the | ast open crosscut to the No. 1 entry. They wal ked
down the No. 1 entry to the second open crosscut. As they
entered the crosscut between the Nos. 1 and 2 entries, the
i nspector orally advised M. Curry that he was issuing a "(d)"
order (Tr. 139; 146).

4. M. Curry hinself had been a former MSHA inspector (Tr.
134) and he understood that the inspector was issuing an
unwarrantabl e failure order (Tr. 154). M. Curry then left the
i nspector for about 10 minutes so that he could call the nine
superintendent, M. Sloan, for the purpose of letting the
superintendent know that No. 5 Section had been cl osed by an
order (Tr. 140; 162).

5. The inspector had found that the mne personnel were
doing a "good job" of supporting the roof (Tr. 91), but he found
that there was insufficient rock dust on the floor of the mne
(Tr. 31-38). The inspector's Order No. 706444 was witten at
6:05 p.m on May 3, 1979, and cites Pontiki for a violation of 30
CFR 75. 403 because there had been an "[i] nadequate application of
rock dust on mine floor in entries No. 1 through No. 7 and
connecting crosscuts on No. 005-0 Section, starting at spad No.
1450 and extending i nby approx[imately] 360 feet" (Exh. 5).

6. The inspector based his citation of inadequate rock
dusting in seven entries and their connecting crosscuts on an
exam nation of the crosscuts and entries which he could see by
wal ki ng through the No. 5 entry to the two rows of crosscuts
outby the face (Tr. 46-47; 82-83). The inspector wal ked through
the first and second rows of crosscuts outby the face and | ooked
down each of the seven entries. The inspector wal ked down the No.
1 entry for three crosscuts fromthe face, down the No. 2 entry
for 2-1/2 crosscuts fromthe face, and down the No. 4 entry to
the belt feeder which was located just inby the third crosscut
fromthe face. Wth the exception of the No. 5 entry, the
i nspector did not travel any entry for a distance of nore than
three crosscuts fromthe face (Tr. 84). Al though the inspector
had no illum nation other than his cap light, he stated that he



could see a distance of from 300 to 360 feet down each entry and
could determine that the fl oor had been inadequately rock dusted
(Tr. 82; 87; 196). There were permanent stoppings between the
Nos. 2 and 3 entries and
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between the Nos. 5 and 6 entries for the purpose of separating
the intake and return airways (Tr. 47; 86; 159-160). The

i nspector could not have seen what the condition of the rock dust
was in the crosscuts between Nos. 2 and 3 entries and between
Nos. 5 and 6 entries because his observation fromentry No. 5
woul d have been bl ocked by permanent stoppings as he wal ked up
the No. 5 entry to the working faces (Tr. 149). Those portions
of the crosscuts would not have constituted a major part of the
No. 5 Section and woul d not have existed closer than three
crosscuts fromthe working face (Tr. 86).

7. The inspector took two floor sanples and the trainee
took one floor sanple to support the inspector's claimthat rock
dust on the mne floor in No. 5 Section was inadequate. One of
the inspector's floor sanples was taken at a point 20 feet inby
spad No. 1491 in the No. 2 entry. The inspector's other floor
sanpl e was taken in the crosscut between the Nos. 1 and 2 entries
at a point which was about 50 or 60 feet fromthe place where he
obtained the first sanple. The inspector trainee's floor sanple
was taken in the No. 3 entry about 10 feet outby spad No. 1490,
or approximately 80 feet fromthe place where the inspector took
his first sanple (Exh. C Tr. 190-195). Thus, all three sanples
used to substantiate the inspector's order were taken either in
or close to the second crosscut fromthe face and all three
sanmpl es were taken within a distance fromeach ot her of about 120
feet even though the inspector's order covered the entire No. 5
Section for a distance of seven crosscuts, or about 420 feet
outby the face (Exhs. 5, 6 and C, Tr. 78-79; 86). The inspector
consi dered the three sanples, two of which reveal ed an
i ncombustibility of 35 precent and one of which showed an
i ncombustibility of 31 percent, to be representative of the
condition of the floor throughout the No. 5 Section (Tr. 37-38).

8. The inspector conceded that there had been spillage in
the crosscut where the sanples were taken, but he insisted that
he did not take sanples where spillage existed (Tr. 71-72). In
the inspector's opinion, the anount of spillage in the crosscuts
and entries near the face was not excessive and woul d not have
justified citing Pontiki for a violation of 30 CFR 75.400 for
permtting conbustible materials to accurmulate (Tr. 90-91).

9. Respondent's safety director introduced as Exhibit C a
drawi ng of the No. 5 Section which he nade about 2 days after the
i nspector's order was issued. Exhibit C shows that both of the
i nspector's sanples were taken in places where spillage existed.
The sanpl e obtai ned by the trai nee was taken at a place where no
spillage is shown on Exhibit C and the inconbustibility of that
sanpl e was 35 percent (Exhs. 6 and C, Tr. 144).

10. The chief mine foreman, second-shift mne forenman, and
third-shift mne foreman all testified that they were having
trouble in controlling the roof in the No. 5 Section (Tr. 105;
112; 121; 124; 170). Tinbers were being set on each side of the
entry and 72-inch roof bolts on 4-foot centers were being used to
support the roof (Tr. 91-92). It was also frequently necessary
to install cribs as further supplenental support (Tr. 112; 124;



Exh. B).
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Pontiki's safety director and all three forenen stated that when
addi ti onal roof supports and rock dusting needed to be done at
the sane tine, they gave priority to installation of roof
supports (Tr. 112; 124; 151; 180).

11. Al three forenen testified that the cl eaning and rock
dusting programin the No. 5 Section consisted of cleaning and
rock dusting during both production shifts as well as cl eaning
and rock dusting on the maintenance shift (Tr. 99-100; 119; 124;
168-169). On each production shift, the operator of the scoop had
the duty of bringing in supplies such as roof bolts, tinbers, and
rock dust during the first part of his shift. After he had
conpl eted bringing in supplies, it was the scoop operator's duty
to shove excess coal accumulations into the face and to apply
rock dust to the floor after the |oadi ng nachi ne had conpl et ed
renoval of coal from each working place (Tr. 99-100; 167-169).
The chief mne forenman each day | eaves a list of duties for the
third-shift mne foreman to conplete on his shift between
m dni ght and 8: 00 a.m Those duties always include cleaning up
excessi ve coal accumul ations and applying rock dust (Tr. 100-101
119; Exhs. A and B).

12. Three of Pontiki's w tnesses agreed that on May 3,
1979, when Order No. 706444 was witten, there was an i nadequate
anmount of rock dust on the mne floor (Tr. 110; 164; 174-175).
Pontiki's safety director, who had fornmerly been an NMSHA
i nspector for about 3 years, stated that he agreed that a
violation of section 75.403 existed at the tinme Order No. 706444
was witten, but the safety director stated that he disagreed
with the inspector's claimthat the violation was the result of
unwarrantable failure (Tr. 164-165).

13. Pontiki's mne foreman stated that rock dusting on the
m dni ght or mai ntenance shift is done by a machine and the
mai nt enance shift concentrates on the area which has been m ned
during the preceding two production shifts (Tr. 99-100). The
m ne foreman specifically stated: "Honestly, when he dusts the
| ast |ine of breaks he doesn't concentrate on the floor. Really
machi ne dusting you just can't dust the floor * * *" (Tr. 104).
The m ne foreman expl ained that rock dust is applied by hand
during the production shift by the scoop operator. Sonetinmes
they get behind with dusting the floor and at such tines "* * *
we'll work extra hours at dusting the floor™ (Tr. 105).

14. Pontiki's third-shift foreman stated that the miners on
hi s mai nt enance shift did not apply rock dust to the mne floor
as well as they should. He stated specifically, "I |eave
instructions for themto spray the ribs and the top and the
bottom O course, you know, a lot of tinmes, they don't get maybe
to the bottomas good as they should. It should be thicker than
what it is, really” (Tr. 123).

15. The inspector issued an unwarrantable failure order
because the section foreman knew t hat inadequate rock dusting had
been done, but the foreman was taking no action to apply rock
dust al t hough the roof-bolting machi ne was bei ng operated and the



m ners were getting ready to produce
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coal at the tine Order No. 706444 was issued (Tr. 39; 45). The
i nspector believed that the violation of section 75.403
contributed significantly and substantially to the cause and
effect of a safety hazard because the No. 1 M ne rel eases net hane
and an expl osi on coul d have occurred as a result of the

i nadequat e rock dusting. The inspector believed that nanagenent
was becom ng conpl acent about the need to apply an adequate
amount of rock dust. The inspector did not find that there was
sufficient nmethane in the area at the tinme the order was witten
to warrant a finding of immnent danger (Tr. 39-40; 64; 73-80).

16. O der No. 706444 was based on Citation No. 706762
i ssued April 3, 1979, citing Pontiki for a violation of section
75. 313 because "[t]he S and S battery powered scoop (no serial
No.) which is used to |load and haul coal fromthe faces on No.
001-0 Section is not equipped with a nmethane nmonitor" (Exh. 3).
Ponti ki had been using the scoop for about 2 weeks without ever
having installed a nmethane nonitor on the scoop. |If the
i nspector had found that the scoop had been equi pped with a
nmet hane noni tor which had becone inoperable, he would have issued
an ordinary citation under section 104(a) of the Act, but he
found that Pontiki's use of a scoop for 2 weeks wi thout
installing a nethane nonitor was a sufficient show ng of
negligence to justify his issuance of the citation under section
104(d) (1) of the Act. The inspector found that the alleged
violation of section 75.313 contributed significantly and
substantially to the cause or effect of a safety hazard because
the No. 1 Mne rel eases nethane and a nethane nonitor wll
deenergi ze equipnent if it encounters a concentration of mnethane
of up to 2 percent or nore. A concentration of nethane of up to
5 percent may cause an ignition. The inspector did not find that
an i nm nent danger existed because the scoop was not being
operated in an expl osive concentration of nmethane (Tr. 14-29).

17. In the inspector's opinion, Pontiki's managenent fail ed
to denonstrate a good faith effort to achieve rapid conpliance
after he issued Order No. 706444 citing Pontiki for a violation
of section 75.403. The inspector based his opinion of |ack of
good faith abatenment on the fact that his order was issued on May
3, 1979, and was not abated until My 7, 1979 (Tr. 40). After the
i nspector was shown a cal endar, he stated that his order was
i ssued on a Thursday at 6:05 p.m and that an interveni ng weekend
passed before he term nated the order on Monday, My 7, 1979 (Tr.
41). The inspector's opinion as to |lack of good faith abatenent
failed to take into consideration the fact that Pontiki's
managenent tried to get an inspector to return to the mne on
Friday, May 4, 1979, to term nate the order, but no MSHA
i nspector was available for checking the conditions in the No. 5
Section because all of the inspectors were attendi ng a personne
nmeeting at MSHA' s Prestonsburg O fice (Tr. 42-43; 115; 187). The
i nspector did not bring his notes with himwhen he testified at
the hearing and therefore was unable to agree or disagree as to
his availability to check the No. 5 Section on May 4, 1979, to
determ ne whether his order should be termnated (Tr. 43). In
the opinion of Pontiki's mne foreman, the conditions cited in
the inspector's order had been abated by the next day after the



order was issued (Tr. 115).
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18. Wen Pontiki's managenent was unable to obtain an inspector
to check the conditions in the No. 5 Section on May 4, 1979,
addi ti onal cleaning and rock dusting were done during the
weekend, but nuch of that cleaning consisted of renoval of |oose
coal which had sl oughed off the ribs and was |ying behind the
roadway tinbers (Tr. 132; 187). The inspector stated that his
order was not intended to require the renoval of material from
behind the tinbers (Tr. 67-71). The preponderance of the
evi dence shows that Pontiki's nmanagenent denonstrated a good
faith effort to achieve rapid conpliance.

Docket No. KENT 79-115-R
The Validity of Underlying Citation No. 706762

The first contention made in Pontiki's brief (pp. 24-27) is
that underlying G tation No. 706762, on which O der No. 706444 is
based, is invalid because it does not contain the finding of
unwarrantabl e failure which is required by section 104(d)(1) of
the Act. For all practical purposes, Pontiki is raising the
guesti on of whet her MSHA Form 7000-3, which is used by inspectors
for issuing citations and orders under the 1977 Act, is
sufficiently specific to conply with the requirenents of section
104(d) (1) when the inspector wishes to issue an unwarrantabl e
failure citation. As Pontiki correctly points out, section
104(d) (1) unanbi guously requires that "* * * if he [an
aut hori zed representative of the Secretary] finds such violation
to be caused by an unwarrantable failure of such operator to
conmply with such nandatory health or safety standards, he shal
i ncl ude such finding in any citation given to the operator under
this chapter.”

Exhibit No. 3 in this proceeding is Ctation No. 706762
i ssued by an inspector on April 3, 1979. Citation No. 706762 is
witten on MSHA Form 7000-3. The inspector placed an "X' in a
box at the top of the formto show that he was issuing a
citation. Under the word "Citation" there appears in parentheses
"See Reverse." If one turns the formover, he reads on the right
side of the back of the formthe foll ow ng statenent:

Cl TATI ON ORDER

Pursuant to the Federal M ne Safety and Health Act of
1977, the undersigned Authorized Representative of the
Secretary upon maki ng an inspection or an investigation
of the hereon designated nmine on this date
finds/believes that the followi ng condition or practice
exi sts, or has existed, in the mne area or on the

equi prent descri bed hereon

Section 104(a) - Violation of the Act, mandatory
health or safety standard, rule,
order or regulation
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Section 104(d) (1) - Unwarrantable failure - could
significantly and substantially
contribute to health or safety hazard

Section 104(f) - Ctation - exceeding respirable
dust standard

Beneath the word "Citation" on the front of the form the
phrase "Type of Action" appears. The inspector entered after
"Type of Action" the nunmbers and letter "104-D." There is
nothing on the front of the formto explain what the entry
"104-D' nmeans. If one turns the formover, he will find nothing
on the back of the formwhich explains what "104-D' means, but he
will find under the caption "Citation/Order,"” as quoted above, an
expl anati on opposite "Section 104(d)(1)" to the effect that
section 104(d)(1) is associated with "unwarrantable failure."

Beneath the words "Part and Section"” on the front of the
form the inspector placed an "X'" in a box after which there
appears "S and S (See Reverse)." Again, if one turns to the back
of the form he will find opposite "Section 104(d)(1)" a
statenment indicating that a 104(d)(1) type of action involves a
vi ol ati on which "could significantly and substantially contribute
to health or safety hazard."

Ponti ki contends that the entries on Exhibit No. 3 or Form
7000- 3, as described above, fall short of conpliance with section
104(d) (1) of the Act which requires that an inspector shal
include a finding of unwarrantable failure "* * * in any
citation given to the operator under this chapter."”

MSHA' s brief (p. 11) notes that the Comri ssion stated in
Secretary of Labor v. JimWlter Resources, Inc., 1 FMS HR
Comm Deci sions 1827, 1829, that "[t]he primary reasons
conpel ling the statutory nandate of specificity is for the
pur pose of enabling the operator to be properly advised so that
corrections can be made to insure safety and to all ow adequate
preparations for any potential hearing on the matter." The issue
inthe JimWlter case was whether the inspector's description of
the "condition or practice" cited in his notice of violation was
sufficiently specific to conply with section 104(e) of the
Federal Coal Mne Health and Safety Act of 1969, but the
principle is the same, nanely, whether Exhibit No. 3 sets forth a
specific finding as to unwarrantable failure which satisfies the
provi sions of section 104(d)(1) of the 1977 Act.

I find that Exhibit No. 3 conplies with the "finding"
requi renents of section 104(d)(1). The front of Exhibit No. 3
informed Pontiki that Ctation No. 706762 was bei ng i ssued under
section 104(d). Although the inspector did not add subsection
(1) after his entry of section "104-D," his om ssion was not
prejudicial to Pontiki because there is no entry on the back of
Citation No. 706762 with which the inspector's reference to
"104-D' coul d have been confused. Therefore, the back of
Citation No. 706762 specifically stated that the inspector had
found the existence of a condition
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or practice which was described on the front of Ctation No.
706762. The front of the citation al so advised Pontiki that the
citation was being issued under section 104-D and the back of the
formclearly shows that any reference to "D' nust pertain to
section 104(d) (1) which is only associated wi th unwarrantabl e
failure. The inspector's checking of "S and S" on the front of
the citation was associated with a request that the operator
exam ne the "reverse" or back side of the form There, again,
opposite "Section 104(d)(1)," the formexplained that "S and S"
meant a significant and substantial violation which could
contribute to a health or safety standard.

I do not think that Pontiki's brief raises a question about
whet her the evidence in this proceedi ng woul d support a finding
that the violation alleged in Citation No. 706762 was the result
of unwarrantable failure on the part of Pontiki, but if such an
issue is inherent in Pontiki's argunents, | believe that Finding
No. 16, supra, supports the inspector's finding of unwarrantable
failure in Gtation No. 706762, assumi ng that unwarrantable
failure has the neaning assigned to that termin Zeigler Coa
Co., 7 |IBMA 280, 295-96 (1977).

MSHA' s Request that | Find a Violation of Section 75.313

At the hearing, | sustained an objection by Pontiki's
counsel when MSHA' s counsel asked the inspector whether Ponti ki
had denonstrated a good faith effort to achieve conpliance after
Citation No. 706762 was issued. | sustained the objection
because nmy order had consolidated for hearing in this proceedi ng
only the civil penalty issues pertaining to Order No. 706444.
Since Pontiki's counsel had clainmed that the underlying G tation
No. 706762 was invalid only for failure to make the findings
requi red by section 104(d)(1) of the Act, it did not occur to ne
that | should consolidate the the civil penalty issues with
respect to underlying Ctation No. 706762 with the civil penalty
i ssues pertaining to Order No. 706444.

In the preceding portion of this decision | have rejected
Ponti ki's argunment that Citation No. 706762 failed to nake the
findings required by section 104(d)(1). Since Pontiki was not
given notice that the civil penalty issues with respect to
Citation No. 706762 woul d be considered at the hearing, | think
that I must reaffirmny sustaining of Pontiki's objection to ny
considering in this proceeding the civil penalty issues with
respect to Citation No. 706762.

It is true that MSHA's brief (p. 7) argues that | may find a
violation of section 75.313 on the basis of the evidence
i ntroduced by MSHA in this proceedi ng regardl ess of whet her
Ponti ki was given notice that the civil penalty issues with
respect to Citation No. 706762 woul d be considered at the
hearing. MSHA's theory is that | may determ ne whether the
violation of section 75.313 alleged in Ctation No. 706762
occurred as a part of ny consideration of Pontiki's argunents
that Citation No. 706762 is invalid for failure to make the
findings required by section 104(d) (1) because MSHA cl ai ns t hat



one of the findings required by section 104(d)(1) is that the
i nspector find that a violation has occurred. Wile that may be
true, it
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is a fact that Pontiki did not raise the specific issue of

whet her a violation of section 75.313 occurred. Pontiki's
objection to the underlying citation has always been directed to
t he question of whether the citation properly made the finding as
to unwarrantable failure which is required by section 104(d)(1).

In any event, it is a fact that nmy order did not consolidate
for hearing in this proceeding the civil penalty issues
associated with Citation No. 706762. The sole reason that NMSHA
requests me to find that a violation of section 75.313 occurred
is to make nmy finding "res judicata" for the prospective civil
penalty proceeding (MSHA's brief, p. 7). | do not believe | can
i gnore the clear provisions of ny order providing for hearing and
consi der issues which ny order failed to state would be
consi der ed.

As | stated at the hearing, it was an oversight on ny part
not to have consolidated for hearing the civil penalty issues
pertaining to Citation No. 706762. It has been ny consi stent
practice to consolidate for hearing all civil penalty issues with
the issues relating to the primary order or citation involved in
proceedings initiated by applications for review or notices of
contest, but this is the first proceeding | have had in which
MSHA wi shed to have ne consider the civil penalty issues
associated with an underlying citation. It would be unfortunate
if my lack of foresight in consolidating the civil penalty issues
pertaining to Citation No. 706762 for hearing in this proceedi ng
should result in the necessity of nmy having to hold a further
hearing on the civil penalty issues raised by MSHA's Proposal for
Assessnment of Civil Penalty filed in Docket No. KENT 80-53 with
respect to underlying Citation No. 706762. As expl ai ned bel ow, |
do not think that an additional hearing should be required to
resolve the civil penalty issues remaining to be determned with
respect to Citation No. 706762.

Al t hough the order acconpanying this decision disposes only
of the civil penalty issues raised by Order No. 706444, it is ny
opinion that this record contains the essential facts required
for determining all civil penalty issues with respect to Citation
No. 706762, provided counsel for the parties are agreeable to a
resolution of the civil penalty issues on the basis of the record
in this proceeding. The fact that evidence has been received
with respect to Citation No. 706762 shoul d not, of course,
preclude the parties fromsettling the civil penalty issues
raised with respect to Citation No. 706762, if they should be
inclined to do so.

I shall take no action in scheduling a hearing or deciding
the civil penalty issues with respect to Citation No. 706762
until time for filing a request for discretionary review of ny
deci sion has expired. Wthin a reasonable tine after revi ew has
ei t her been granted or denied, counsel for the parties should
advise ne as to their wi shes concerning the manner for
di sposition of the civil penalty issues. |If | do not eventually
recei ve an expression of opinion fromcounsel for the parties as
to the method they would prefer for disposing of the civil



penalty issues raised by Gtation No. 706762, | shall schedul e
t hose i ssues for hearing.
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The Validity of Order No. 706444

The first argunent in Pontiki's brief (p. 28) with respect
to the invalidity of Order No. 706444 is that the order nust fal
because it was based on Citation No. 706762 which has been shown
by Pontiki to be invalid. Since | have already held in a
preceding portion of this decision that Ctation No. 706762 was
validly issued, | nust necessarily reject Pontiki's first
argument .

The second argunent raised by Pontiki's brief (pp. 28-29)
"* * * js substantially identical to that made with respect to
the underlying citation,” namely, that Order No. 706444 is
invalid because it failed to make the special findings which are
requi red by the remai nder of section 104(d) (1) which provides:

* * * |f, during the sane inspection or any

subsequent inspection of such mne within 90 days after
t he issuance of such citation, an authorized
representative of the Secretary finds another violation
of any mandatory health or safety standard and finds
such violation to be al so caused by an unwarrantabl e
failure of such operator to so conply, he shal
forthwith issue an order [of withdrawal] * * *.

Since Pontiki's argunent with respect to the invalidity of
Order No. 706444 is substantially identical to that nmade with
respect to underlying Ctation No. 706762, ny determination as to
the validity of Order No. 706444 will also be nearly identical to
that made with respect to Citation No. 706762. Order No. 706444
was received in evidence as Exhibit No. 5. Form 7000-3 used by
the inspector in this instance for issuance of Order No. 706444
is, of course, identical to the formused for issuance of
Citation No. 706762 except that the inspector correctly cited the
type of action as "104(d)(1)" and checked the block at the top of
the formindicating that he was issuing an order of withdrawal.
VWhen Exhibit No. 5 is exanmined on its reverse side in response to
t he suggestion on the front of the formto "See reverse," the
follow ng statement will be found on the left side of the back of
the form

ORDER

You are hereby ordered to cause i medi ately al
persons, except those permtted under Section 103(j),
103(k) and/or 104(c) of the Federal Mne Safety and
Health Act of 1977, to be withdrawn from and to be
prohi bited from entering the area of the nine

descri bed hereon until an Authorized Representative of
the Secretary determ nes that the danger(s) and its
causes no |l onger exist, the violation(s) of the
mandatory health or safety standards have been abated
or the energency has been elim nated.



~381
Section 104(b) - Failure to abate a violation
104(a) or (d)(1) in the time
peri od given

Section 104(d) (1) - Unwarrantable failure -
subsequent to 104(d) (1) citation
during the same inspection or
within 90 days after issuance of
104(d) (1) citation

Section 104(d)(2) - Unwarrantable failure violation -
subsequent to issuance to 104(d) (1)
order - subsequent inspection - no
i nterveni ng i nspection of the mne
inits entirety which has disclosed
no further unwarrantable violation

* Kk * * Kk * * Kk %

An exam nation of Exhibit No. 5 shows that the inspector
checked that an order of w thdrawal was being issued under
section 104(d) (1) of the Act and the reverse side of Exhibit No.
5 explained to Pontiki that the order involved a finding that the
violation was the result of unwarrantable failure found during
the sane inspection or within 90 days after the issuance of
Citation No. 706762. Exhibit No. 5 clearly made all the
prelimnary findings which are required to conply with the
provi sions of section 104(d)(1) of the Act insofar as they
pertain to the issuance of an order. Although the forner Board
of M ne Qperations Appeals has held that the violation cited in
an order issued under section 104(c)(1) of the 1969 Act does not
have to be a violation which would significantly and
substantially contribute to the cause or effect of a health or
safety standard (Zeigler Coal Co., 6 IBMA 182 (1976); A d Ben
Coal Co., 6 IBMA 229 (1976); A d Ben Coal Co., 6 |BMA 234 (1976);
ad Ben Coal Co., 7 IBVA 224 (1976); and Al abama By- Products
Corp., 7 IBVA 85 (1976)), the inspector checked the "S and S
bl ock on Order No. 706444 because he believed the violation of
section 75.403 cited in the order was a significant and
substantial violation which could significantly and substantially
contribute to the cause and effect of a health or safety standard
(Finding No. 15, supra).

Based on the exami nation of Order No. 706444 set forth
above, | find that the order contained the special findings
requi red by section 104(d) (1) of the Act and was therefore a
val id order.

The third argunent nade in Pontiki's brief (pp. 29-31) is
that the violation of section 75.403 cited in O der No. 706444
was not proven. As indicated in Finding No. 5, supra, Oder No.
706444 cited Ponti ki for having inadequate rock dust in all seven
entries and connecting crosscuts in the No. 5 Section of the
mne. Pontiki points to the fact that the inspector's order of
term nation stated that | oose coal and coal dust were renoved
fromthe No. 5 Section and that entries Nos. 1 through 7 and



connecting crosscuts were adequately rock dusted. Pontiki then
refers to its own witnesses' testinmobny to the effect that there
were | oose coal accunulations in the No. 5
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Section and concl udes from such evidence that since there was a
viol ation of section 75.400 in the No. 5 Section, the inspector
incorrectly cited Pontiki for a violation of section 75.403.

One of the difficulties | have with Pontiki's argunment that
t he existence of a violation of section 75.400 precludes an
i nspector fromciting Pontiki for a violation of section 75.403,
is the fact that three of Pontiki's own w tnesses, including one
who had previously been an MSHA inspector for 3 years, stated
unequi vocal Iy that there was inadequate rock dust on the floor in
the No. 5 Section (Finding No. 12, supra). GCbviously, the
i nspector could have cited Pontiki for a violation of section
75.400 in the same order in which he cited Pontiki for a
violation of section 75.403. Thus, it is quite immterial that
the floor in the No. 5 Section contained | oose coal accumul ations
so long as the evidence al so showed that Pontiki had failed to
apply an adequat e amount of rock dust to the floors as required
by section 75.403.

Section 75.403 provides as foll ows:

VWhere rock dust is required to be applied, it shall be
di stributed upon the top, floor, and sides of al
underground areas of a coal mne and maintained in such
guantities that the inconbustible content of the
conbi ned coal dust, rock dust, and other dust shall not
be | ess than 65 per centum[in intake entries] * * *,
[ Enphasi s supplied.]

Al the entries in which the inspector obtained a total of three
sanples were in intake air and two sanpl es, when anal yzed, showed
an inconbustible content of 35 percent and one sanpl e had an

i ncombusti bl e content of 31 percent. The inspector's order cited
a lack of rock dust in only those areas where rock dusting is
required, that is, the areas were nore than 40 feet fromthe

wor ki ng face, they were not too wet or too high in inconbustible
content to propagate an expl osion, they were not inaccessible or
unsafe to enter, and they had not been exenpted from rock dusting
by the Secretary (Tr. 93-94). |Inasnmuch as section 75.403

requi res that an adequate anmount of rock dust be "maintai ned" in
the entries and crosscuts cited in Oder No. 706444, Pontiki was
not exenpt from having the entries and crosscuts rock dusted just
because its wi tnesses testified that an excessive anount of |oose
coal and coal dust had been permtted to accunmulate. Pontiki was
requi red by section 75.400 to keep the | oose coal cleaned up and
was al so required by section 75.403 to apply sufficient rock dust
to maintain the inconbustible content at 65 percent in intake
entries. The inspector believed the | oose coal accumul ations of
about 1 inch were sufficiently thin that the area could be
rendered 65 percent inconbustible by application of rock dust

al one wi thout any cleaning (Finding Nos. 8 and 18, supra). |If he
had al so believed that the | oose coal needed to be cleaned up

bef ore rock dust could be applied, he could have cited Ponti ki

for a violation of section 75.400 and also for a violation of
section 75.403. The fact that the inspector elected to cite
Ponti ki for only one violation instead of two does not make his



order invalid for failing to cite both violations.



~383

Per haps the nost unsatisfactory aspect of the evidence presented
by MSHA to prove that a violation of section 75.403 existed is
t he question of whether the inspector's three sanples were really
representative of the conditions which existed throughout the
seven entries and connecting crosscuts cited in the inspector's
order (Pontiki's Brief, p. 31). The evidence unequivocally shows
that all three sanples were taken within the second crosscut from
the face, or within a few feet of that crosscut in the Nos. 2 and
3 entries. Thus, the sanples proved that the floor in the second
crosscut fromthe face had an inconbustibility of from31 to 35
percent (Finding No. 7, supra). The inspector believed that
those three sanples were representative of conditions throughout
all seven entries and connecting crosscuts, but his credibility
woul d have been considerably enhanced if he had taken his sanples
farther apart than he did.

The inspector's testinony was, however, corroborated by the
testinmony of Pontiki's safety director who had been an NMSHA
i nspector for about 3 years before he began working for Ponti ki
The safety director was traveling with the inspector when the
i nspector stated that he was going to issue a "(d)" order citing
Ponti ki for a violation of section 75.403. Pontiki's safety
director candidly stated that he agreed that Ponti ki had viol at ed
section 75.403 (Finding No. 12, supra). Pontiki's safety
director was of the opinion that the inspector should have taken
addi ti onal sanples and that the violation was not the result of
unwarrant abl e failure, but he readily agreed that a violation of
section 75.403 had occurred. Additionally, two of Pontiki's
foremen stated that an inadequate ampount of rock dust had been
applied to the mne floor and they specifically stated that the
machi ne duster used on the maintenance shift did not apply as
much rock dust to the floor of the mne as was desirable (Finding
Nos. 13 and 14, supra). Therefore, |I find that the preponderance
of the evidence shows that a violation of section 75.403 occurred
as cited in Oder No. 706444 (Finding Nos. 3 through 9 and 12
t hrough 14, supra).

The fourth argument made in Pontiki's brief (pp. 32-39) is
that, assumi ng, arguendo, that a violation of section 75.403
occurred, the violation was not the result of an unwarrantable
failure by Pontiki's managenent. Many of the factual argunents
advanced by Pontiki in support of its argunment that MSHA failed
to prove that the violation was the result of unwarrantable
failure have been answered in ny discussion above of the issue as
to whether a violation of section 75.403 was proven. | agree
that Pontiki's brief correctly cites the |anguage fromthe forner
Board's Zeigler opinion for the correct definition of the words
"unwarrantable failure,” nanmely (7 IBVA at 295-96):

* * * an inspector should find that a violation of

any mandatory standard was caused by an unwarrantabl e
failure to conmply with such standard if he determ nes
that the operator involved has failed to abate the
conditions or practices constituting such violation
conditions or practices the operator knew or shoul d
have known existed or which it failed to abate because



of a lack of due diligence, or because of indifference
or lack of reasonable care. [Enphasis supplied.]
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Pontiki's brief also correctly quotes one of the inspector's
answers in response to questioning done to elicit fromthe

i nspector his understandi ng of the words "unwarrantable failure"
(Br., p. 32 and Tr. 27):

Unwarrantabl e failure on the part of an operator is a
violation of a law where a condition exists at the
m nes whi ch could add substantially and significantly
to the health and safety of the mners. The operator
knows the condition exists and yet is doing nothing to
correct it. O it can be a condition that exists where
t he operator knows or through diligent effort should
have known the condition existed yet he was doi ng
nothing to correct it. This is what | consider
unwarrantable; it's a condition the operator knows
exi sts.

I nasmuch as the inspector practically quoted one of the
definitions of unwarrantable failure given in the Board' s Zeigler
opi nion, supra, it is difficult to determ ne any defects in the
i nspector's rationale for finding that the violation cited in his
order was the result of an unwarrantable failure to conply.

Ponti ki, therefore, resorts to | anguage in the Zeigler opinion in
whi ch the Board indicated that the inspector's judgnment that
unwarrant abl e failure existed nmust be based on a thorough

i nvestigation and nust be reasonable in light of the peculiar

rel evant facts and circunstances which existed at the tine the

i nspector wites an unwarrantable failure order. Pontiki argues
that the inspector's finding of unwarrantable failure was not
based on a thorough investigation or reasonabl e concl usi ons
because he did not wal k the conplete Iength of all the entries
and connecting crosscuts cited in his order and because he did
not inquire about the efforts which Pontiki's managenent was
maki ng to maintain an adequate coating of rock dust in the No. 5
Section (Br., pp. 34-36).

Al t hough the inspector did not walk the entire I ength of
each of the entries cited in his order (Finding No. 6, supra), he
did inspect the face area, including walking through the | ast
open crosscut and the second open crosscut fromthe face. He did
wal k back to the feeder and he did | ook down each of the entries.
VWil e he may not have been able to see a total distance of 360
feet with great precision while having only his cap light for
illumnation, it is quite probable that he coul d distinguish
bet ween t he bl ackness of the floor and the whiteness of the roof
and ribs for a distance of 360 feet. Hi s order was primarily
based on what he saw in the [ast two crosscuts and the fact that
the floor appeared bl ack everywhere he | ooked. Therefore, his
testinmony that he could see for a distance of 360 feet for the
pur pose of determning the condition of the floor is a credible
st at enent .

It should be recalled that the inspector entered the nine
about 4:15 p.m or shortly after the second shift went to work at
4:00 p.m (Tr. 136). The inspector issued his unwarrantable
failure order at 6:05 p.m after an examination of the No. 5



Section which had | asted about 1-1/2 hours. Pontiki's safety
director testified that 190 shuttle cars of coal had been
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produced in the No. 5 Section during the day shift which had
ended just a few m nutes before the inspector began his

exam nation of the No. 5 Section (Tr. 142). | have never had a
case in which anyone estinmated the anmount of coal haul ed by
shuttle cars to be less than 5 tons, and nost of the tinme, the
tonnage is estimated at 8 tons. Since all w tnesses agreed that
the shuttle cars in the No. 5 Section had been | oaded so high
that coal spilled off of themon the way to the feeder, it is
likely that the 190 shuttle cars produced on the No. 5 Section
during a single shift were hauling 8 tons each. 1In any event,
the cars woul d have hauled from950 tons (190 x 5) to 1,520 tons
(190 x 8). The four producing sections in the No. 5 M ne produce
a total of about 3,500 tons of raw coal per day. Therefore, the
producti on of about 1,000 tons of coal during a single shift on a
single section was a remnarkabl e achi evenent. Mreover, even if
the 190 cars only hauled 1 ton of coal each, just the process of

| oadi ng and unl oadi ng 190 cars within an 8-hour period was a
phenonenal acconplishment.

Ponti ki's brief enphasizes that managenment had a very fine
program for cleaning and rock dusting in the No. 1 Mne (Finding
No. 11, supra). All three of Pontiki's forenen testified,
however, that they were having a great many roof-control problens
inthe No. 5 Section and that nmuch of their tine was bei ng spent
in installing supplenental roof support in addition to the nornal
roof -bolting configuration. They further stated that when both a
need for supporting the roof and a need for rock dusting occurred
si mul t aneously, they gave priority to supporting the roof
(Finding No. 10, supra). Three of Pontiki's w tnesses al so
testified that they were not applying as much rock dust to the
floor as was desirable (Finding No. 13, supra). Pontiki's
Pontiki's chief foreman, in describing their difficulties in
keepi ng the floor cleaned and rock dusted in the No. 5 Section
stated (Tr. 105):

VWl l, what | seen was just the ribs rolling off. And,
wel |, the seam of coal was | guess all across the face
fromseven to nine feet and when a piece would tunble
off it would al nbost close the roadway, if you know what
| mean. Sonetimes it would fall twenty foot |ong and
clear across the road, but we had all kinds of trouble
with that. W done everything I could and | guess just
failed, that's all.

It is easy to understand why Pontiki's nanagenent thought
that the inspector's finding of unwarrantable failure was unfair.
The record shows that managenment had procedures which shoul d have
assured that the roof in the No. 5 Section was controlled and
that the section was properly cleaned and rock dusted (Findings
Nos. 10 and 11, supra). Nevertheless, in my opinion, there was
at | east one defect in managenent's plan, namely, an unreasonable
and excessive reliance was placed on the ability of the operators
of the scoop to bring in supplies, clean up excess coal, and
apply rock dust to the floor during the production shifts. It
was the duty of the scoop operator to bring in roof bolts, rock
dust, and ot her supplies at the beginning of each shift. After



he had finished bringing in supplies, it was his duty to clean up
| oose coal accunul ations and apply rock



~386

dust to the floor by hand. The mai ntenance shift, which worked
frommdnight to 8 a.m, was responsible for nmachi ne dusting the
roof, ribs, and floor. Wiile they were supposed to apply rock
dust to the floor, they did not apply as much as was desirable
(Finding Nos. 12 and 13, supra).

Si nce managenent was having difficulty in supporting the
roof and since extra tine was needed to maintain the roof, the
evi dence clearly supports a finding that nmanagenent was not
giving as much attention to cleaning and rock dusting as was

required in the circunstances. |In every instance, it was the
scoop operator's duty to clean and rock dust after he had
conpl eted bringing in supplies. 1In other words, Pontiki's

managenment was placing primary enphasis on produci ng coal rather
than in maintaining a conpletely safe operation. At the

begi nning of the shift on which the inspector’'s order was issued,
one of Pontiki's shift foremen had made an inspection of the
section before the inspector arrived and he had concl uded t hat
the section needed cl eaning and rock dusting (Tr. 175). Despite
the fact that nmanagenment knew an i nadequate anount of rock dust
was being applied to the floor and that excessive coal needed to
be cl eaned up, nanagenent was continuing to produce 190 shuttle
cars of coal per shift, instead of stopping production |ong
enough to clean up the section and apply an adequate anount of
rock dust. It nakes very little difference if mners are
protected from having the roof fall on themif, while standing
under a perfectly safe roof, they are killed or injured by a coa
dust expl osi on.

A preponderance of the evidence supports the inspector's
findi ng that managenent knew an i nadequate anmount of rock dust
had been applied and yet managenent was not naking sure that the
section was cl eaned and rock dusted as required by section
75.403. Therefore, | find that the inspector properly found that
the violation of section 75.403 cited in Order No. 706444 was the
result of unwarrantable failure. Since Order No. 706444 has
successfully withstood all of Pontiki's argunments, the order
acconpanying this decision will hereinafter affirm Order No.
706444.

Docket No. KENT 80-53

MSHA' s Proposal for Assessnent of Civil Penalty was filed on
January 15, 1980, seeking assessnent of civil penalties for the
vi ol ati ons of sections 75.313 and 75.403 alleged in Ctation No.
706762 and Order No. 706444, respectively. As | have already
expl ai ned on page 10 of this decision, supra, ny order setting
this case for hearing did not consolidate the civil penalty
i ssues raised with respect to underlying G tation No. 706762.
Therefore, ny decision in this proceeding will deal only with the
civil penalty issues concerning Order No. 706444.

I have hereinbefore found that the violation of section
75.403 alleged in Oder No. 706444 occurred. | shall hereinafter
consider the six criteria set forth in section 110(i) of the Act
so that an appropriate civil penalty may be assessed for the



violation of section 75.403 cited in Order No. 706444.
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Si ze of Respondent's Busi ness

On the basis of Finding No. 1, supra, | find that Pontiki is
a large operator and that the civil penalty to be assessed in
this proceedi ng should be in an upper range of magnitude insofar
as it is determned under the criterion of the size of
respondent' s busi ness.

Ef fect of Penalties on Operator's Ability To Continue in
Busi ness

Ponti ki's counsel did not present any evidence at the
hearing with respect to Pontiki's financial condition. In
Buffalo M ning Co., 2 IBMA 226 (1973), and in Associ ated
Drilling, Inc., 3 IBVA 164 (1974), the former Board of M ne
Operations Appeals held that when a respondent fails to present
any evidence concerning its financial condition, a judge may
presune that payment of penalties would not cause respondent to
di scontinue in business. In the absence of any specific evidence
to the contrary, | find that paynent of penalties will not cause
Ponti ki to discontinue in business.

Good Faith Effort To Achi eve Rapid Conpliance

On the basis of Finding Nos. 17 and 18, supra, | find that
Ponti ki denonstrated a good faith effort to achi eve conpliance
and Pontiki will be given full credit for that mtigating factor
in the assessnent of a civil penalty.

H story of Previous Violations

At the hearing, MSHA' s counsel introduced as Exhibit No. 2 a
53- page conmputer printout which lists previous violations at al
the m nes controlled by Mapco, Inc. (Finding No. 1, supra).
stated at the hearing that it has been ny practice to consider
only the history of previous violations of the individual mne in
which a given violation is found to have occurred (Tr. 7).
MSHA' s brief (pp. 3 and 24-25) argues that | amobligated to
consi der Mapco, Inc.'s, total history of previous violations
rather than the previous violations which have occurred only at
Pontiki's No. 1 Mne where the violation of section 75.403 here
i nvol ved occurred. MSHA's argunent is primarily based on a claim
that section 110(i) of the Act provides for consideration to be
given to "* * * the operator's history of previous violations,"
rather than for consideration to be given to the history of
previ ous viol ations which have occurred at a single mne. NSHA
contends that a greater deterrent against continued violations
will be achieved if top managenment is held responsible for all of
its subsidiaries' history than will be achieved if only a single
mne is considered at a given tine.

I do not have a closed mind on the subject. There may be
cases in which it would be beneficial to consider the controlling
conpany's history of previous violations rather than to consider
only the previous violations which have occurred at the m ne
under consideration for a specific violation. 1In each



proceedi ng, a judge nust use the evidence which the parties
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have presented. |If the evidence concerning the controlling
conpany's previous violations is limted, there is no way for the
judge to show how he has considered a given respondent's history
of previous violations.

In this proceeding, for exanple, Exhibit No. 2 indicates
t hat Mapco, Inc., which controls Pontiki and four other coa
conpani es, has a history of previous violations totaling 2,089
violations. The fact that Mapco's subsidiaries have viol at ed
various regul ations on 2,089 occasions, by itself, means not hi ng.
That figure does not reveal whether Mapco's violations are
greater or less than the violations conmtted by other
control I ing conpani es of conparable size. Exhibit No. 2 does not
i ndi cate how many tons of coal are produced in the nine mnes
whi ch are controlled by Mapco. Exhibit No. 2 does not reveal how
many sections of each mine are engaged in production. Exhibit
No. 2 does not show how many production shifts exist at each mne
nor how many enpl oyees work at each m ne

The absence of statistical information prevents ne from
gi ving any mneani ngful consideration to Mapco's previous
violations as a whole. For exanple, Exhibit No. 2 shows that
Pontiki's No. 1 M ne has had 15 previous viol ations of section
75.403 over a period of 3 years, whereas the Retiki M ne of
Webst er Coal Conpany has had 14 previous violations of section
75.403 over a period of 5 years, and the Dotiki M ne of Wbster
Coal Conpany has had 11 previous violations of section 75.403
over a period of 6 years. The foregoing conparison would nmake it
appear that Pontiki's previous violations are nore adverse than
those of its affiliated conpany, but I cannot make such a finding
because | do not know how many sections produce coal in either
the Retiki Mne or the Dotiki Mne. If those m nes enploy fewer
m ners and produce | ess coal than Pontiki's No. 1 Mne, their
record of 14 and 11 previous violations of section 75.403 woul d
be nmore significant and unfavorable than Pontiki's 15 previous
viol ati ons of section 75.403.

In short, until MSHA is able to introduce data of a nore
meani ngf ul nature than those provided in Exhibit No. 2, there is
no way for me to show how | have actually consi dered the
criterion of history of previous violations with respect to a
gi ven controlling conpany's total history of previous violations.
Mor eover, | believe that top managenent will be as nmuch deterred
fromallowing future violations to occur by a penalty assessed
specifically for a given mne's adverse history of previous
violations as it would be deterred by a penalty assessed for its
overal | adverse history of previous violations. Mnagenment woul d
recogni ze fromhaving to pay a civil penalty so determ ned that
action taken by it to reduce or elimnate future repetitious
violations at all mnes would be likely to reduce any civil
penalties that m ght result from any subsequent viol ations.

As to the history of previous violations at Pontiki's No. 1
M ne, Exhibit No. 2 shows that there were two viol ations of
section 75.403 in 1977, 12 in 1978, and one in 1979 by January 4,
1979. | find that 12 violations of section 75.403 during a



singl e year shows a very unfavorable history of previous
viol ations. Therefore, the penalty hereinafter assessed will be
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i ncreased by $500 under the criterion of history of previous
violations. That |arge a nunber of violations of section 75.403
tends to support the inspector's belief that Pontiki's managenent
was becom ng conpl acent about the need to maintain an adequate
amount of rock dust to within 40 feet of the working faces (Tr.
39).

Negl i gence

The preponderance of the evidence shows that there was a
hi gh degree of negligence in respondent's violation of section
75.403. Managenent was producing coal at the rate of 190 shuttle
cars per shift despite the fact that a greater anmount of tine and
effort than normal was being exerted in controlling the roof.
The effort to maintain a high productivity fromthe No. 5
Section, despite the roof-control problem caused Pontiki's
managenent to slight the need to exert as great an effort at
cl eaning and rock dusting as was being utilized to control the
roof. Managenent's failure to keep the section clean and
mai nt ai n an adequat e anmount of rock dust was the result of a
consi derabl e anount of indifference to adherence with section
75.403. The criterion of negligence requires that a penalty of
$2, 000 be assessed (Finding Nos. 5, 7, 10, and 12 through 15,
supra).

Gavity

I nasnuch as Pontiki's No. 1 Mne |iberates about 454,000
cubic feet of nethane in a 24-hour period (Finding No. 1, supra),
the failure to maintain an adequate anount of rock dust exposed
the mners to a serious threat of an explosion. At the tine the
i nspector cited the violation of section 75.403, he found that no
danger ous amount of nethane was present. Neverthel ess, there was
a potential for an expl osion because the roof-bolting machi ne was
bei ng operated and respondent’'s shift foreman had just inspected
the No. 5 Section and had recogni zed that the section was badly
in need of cleaning and had directed that cleaning be done as
soon as possible. The section foreman, however, had nade no
attenpt to clean up or rock dust and no cl eani ng had been
comrenced up to the tine that the inspector issued Order No.
706444. In such circunstances, the mners had been exposed to a
potential ignition for a considerable period of tinme and the |ack
of rock dust was necessarily a serious violation. Therefore,
find that a penalty of $1,000 is required under the criterion of
gravity (Finding No. 15, supra).

A total penalty of $3,500 will hereinafter be assessed based
on nmy findings above that $500 be attributed to Pontiki's history
of previous violations, that $2,000 be attributed to Pontiki's
negli gence and that $1,000 be attributed to the gravity of the
violation. The penalty would have been |arger than $3,500 if
Ponti ki had failed to denonstrate a good faith effort to achieve
rapid conpliance. The penalty would have been | ess than $3, 500
if Pontiki were not a large operator and if the evidence in this
proceedi ng had shown that Pontiki's ability to continue in
busi ness woul d be adversely affected by having to pay civil



penal ti es.
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U timate Findings and Concl usi ons

(1) Pontiki's application for review or notice of contest
of Order No. 706444 dated May 3, 1979, should be denied and O der
No. 706444 should be affirmed as having correctly cited a
vi ol ati on of section 75.403 and having properly found that the
violation was the result of unwarrantable failure under section
104(d) (1) of the Act.

(2) Underlying Ctation No. 706762 issued April 3, 1979,
and Order No. 706444 properly made the findings required by
section 104(d) (1) of the Act and were validly issued.

(3) MsHA's Proposal for Assessnent of Civil Penalty filed
i n Docket No. KENT 80-53 should be granted to the extent that it
seeks assessnment of a civil penalty for the violation of section
75.403 alleged in Oder No. 706444 and a civil penalty of
$3, 500. 00 shoul d be assessed for that violation

(4) The portion of MBHA's Proposal for Assessnent of G vil
Penal ty which seeks assessnent of a civil penalty for a violation
of section 75.403 with respect to Order No. 706444 should be
severed fromthe remai nder of that Proposal and should be
di sposed of as provided for in paragraph 3 above. The remaining
portion of MSHA's Proposal for Assessment of Civil Penalty in
Docket No. KENT 80-53 which seeks assessnment of a civil penalty
for the violation of section 75.313 alleged in Citation No.
706762 shoul d be schedul ed for a hearing or should be decided on
the basis of the record already nade in this proceedi ng,
dependi ng upon the requests which are hereafter received fromthe
parties to the proceeding in Docket No. KENT 80-53.

(5) Pontiki Coal Corporation is subject to the provisions
of the Act and to the regul ations promul gated thereunder (Tr.
96) .

VWHEREFORE, it is ordered:

(A) Pontiki Coal Corporation's application for review or
notice of contest filed in Docket No. KENT 79-115-R is denied and
Order No. 706444 issued May 3, 1979, is affirnmed.

(B) MSHA's Proposal for Assessnent of Civil Penalty filed
in Docket No. KENT 80-53 is severed fromthe renai nder of the
Proposal and is granted to the extent specified in paragraph (3)
above. Ponti ki Coal Corporation is ordered, within 30 days from
the date of this decision, to pay a civil penalty of $3,500.00
for the violation of section 75.403 cited in Order No. 706444.



~391

(G WMsHA's Proposal for Assessnent of Civil Penalty, insofar
as it seeks assessment of a civil penalty for the violation of
section 75.313 alleged in Citation No. 706762 will be di sposed of
as provided for in paragraph (4) above.

Richard C Steffey
Admi ni strative Law Judge

~FOOTNOTE 1

The order providing for hearing consolidated any civil
penalty issues which mght arise with respect to Order No. 706444
with the issues raised by Pontiki Coal Corporation's request for
review of Order No. 706444. NMSHA's Proposal for Assessnent of
Cvil Penalty was filed on January 15, 1980, in Docket No. KENT
80-53 seeking assessnent of a civil penalty for the violation of
30 CFR 75.403 alleged in Order No. 706444. Therefore, it is now
possible to decide in this proceeding the civil penalty issues on
whi ch evi dence was presented by the parties at the hearing held
on August 9, 1979. My order did not consolidate the civil penalty
i ssues raised in Docket No. KENT 80-53 with respect to underlying
Citation No. 706762. Therefore, the order acconmpanying this
decision defers all civil penalty issues pertaining to Citation
No. 706762 for future disposition.



